FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 7/10/2024 1:54 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/11/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Case #: 1032480

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 56455-6-II

SHEILA LAROSE,

Petitioner,

V.

KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

and

PUBLIC DEFENDER ASSOCIATION D/B/A THE DEFENDER ASSOCIATION (TDA),

Defendant.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Mary Ruth Mann WSBA #9343 James Kytle WSBA #35048 Mann & Kytle, PLLC 1425 Western Avenue, #104 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2700 Philip A. Talmadge WSBA #6973 Gary W. Manca WSBA #42798 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Respondent Sheila LaRose seeks review of the decision in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals filed its opinion on May 14, 2024. A copy is in the Appendix. Sheila moved to publish it because Division II acknowledged that no Washington precedent addresses an employer's Washington's Law Against Discrimination, RCW 49.60 ("WLAD") liability for a nonemployee's conduct outside of a formal workplace contributing to a hostile work environment ("HWE"). Op. 24. Division II denied publication. *See* Appendix.

The unfortunate consequence of Division II's opinion is that female public defenders specifically, and other female employees generally, must accept that harassment and stalking off their employer's physical premises, even though that conduct has a nexus to their employment, is a condition of their employment. That public policy is contrary to the WLAD's

intent and this Court's decisions on HWE, meriting this Court's review and reversal. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4).

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Where the jury was properly instructed on an HWE claim based on gender discrimination and rendered a verdict for the discrimination victim against the employer, did Division II err in overriding the jury's verdict and ruling as a matter of law that the employer had no HWE responsibility for the acts of a non-employee harasser whose unrelenting harassment for months, both at the victim's physical place of employment and other locations, had a nexus to the victim's employment?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Division II's opinion recites the facts and procedures in the case. Op. 3-18. Division II's discussion, however, fails to convey the continuous loop of phone calls, references to her home on her work phone, appearances by Client A at her parking garage, appearances by Client A at her coffee shop, a half block from her office, his surveillance of her and her daughter at her home, or his appearances at her home. Revised resp't br. ("BR") 2-13.

In Instruction 12, the trial court instructed the jury on the

relevant time period for Sheila's HWE claim. CP 10278. That instruction emanated from the County's own proposed Instruction 19. CP 9974. The relevant time period for the County's liability was the "acts or omissions of King County occurring only between July 1, 2013 and February 21, 2014, while King County was her employer." CP 10278. An earlier instruction proposed by the County deleted "only" from the text. CP 7990. The trial court adopted the County's later version.

The trial court also instructed the jury in Instruction 10, that an HWE is not a series of discrete acts. CP 10276. The County did not assign error to it. Revised Br. of Appellant ("BA") 2.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

(1) <u>Division II's Opinion on an HWE Was Analytically</u> Flawed from the Outset

¹ As will be noted *infra*, the work environment that existed at TDA, whose managers carried over to the County, is relevant to the totality of the circumstances of the County's HWE.

Division II's opinion overrode the trial court's summary judgment and CR 50(a) motion² decisions, and the decisions of its own Commissioner on interlocutory review, and disregarded the jury's verdict after a long trial, to conclude that Sheila was not entitled to recover as a matter of law for her WLAD HWE claim against the County or for the County's negligence.

Division II's analysis of the County's HWE here was fundamentally flawed from the outset in major ways that tainted its analysis, rendering it erroneous. Division II failed to heed the proper protocol for CR 50 review, it parsed the County's HWE into segments, ignoring this Court's admonition in multiple cases that an HWE must be viewed as a unitary whole under the totality of the circumstances, and it neglected to apply WLAD's express liberal interpretation directive. Review is merited. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4).

(a) <u>CR 50 Decision Standard of Review</u>

² The County did not file a CR 50(b) motion. The trial court's CR 50 decision was made on the record after a lengthy colloquy with counsel. RP 2 1748-71.

This Court has established the starting point in a CR 50 analysis – jury verdicts are presumed to stand because the jury's decisionmaking role is "the bedrock of our justice system." *Coogan v. Borg-Warner Morse Tec, Inc.*, 197 Wn.2d 790, 799, 490 P.3d 200 (2021). Juries' factfinding is constitutionally-protected. Wash. Const. art. 1 § 22; *James v. Robeck*, 79 Wn.2d 864, 869, 490 P.2d 878 (1971). Juries' verdicts are strongly presumed to be correct and are not lightly overruled on appeal. *Sofie v. Fibreboard Corp.*, 112 Wn.2d 636, 654, 771 P.2d 711 (1989).

Sheila's facts on CR 50 review must be treated as true. *Mancini v. City of Tacoma*, 196 Wn.2d 864, 877, 479 P.3d 656 (2021); *Faust v. Albertson*, 167 Wn.2d 531, 537, 222 P.3d 1208 (2009). Judgment as a matter of law in this WLAD case where there were competing arguments on whether discrimination existed, is inappropriate. *Mikkelsen v. Pub. Hosp. Dist. No. 1 of Kittitas County*, 189 Wn.2d 516, 527-28, 404 P.3d 464 (2017) (determination of discrimination as a matter of law is "seldom

appropriate" given the difficulty of proving discriminatory motivation). Simply put, whether an HWE existed was for the jury, and the jury's verdict should stand; Division II's contrary erroneous conclusion merits this Court's review.

(b) An HWE Is a Unitary Whole Not a Series of Discrete Events as Division II Believed

At the outset, Division II parsed the County's HWE into a discrete series of events. The court established two time periods – the time during which Sheila represented Client A, and the period after the termination of her representation until he was finally prosecuted in February 2014, drawing a further distinction in the latter period between the harassment Sheila experienced at "the workplace," or at its "off-site equivalents," op. 27, and away from it. Op. 19. Division II never defined Sheila's "workplace" or the meaning of "off-site equivalents."

³ Instruction 9's language requires that the harassment alter the conditions of LaRose's employment "in the locations where she worked." CP 10275. Instruction 10, not objected to by the County, states that an HWE is not a "discrete act," but rather may be "the cumulative effects of many acts, which

Critically, Division II's focus on July 1-July 26, 2013 contradicts the *express instruction to the jury on the relevant time period*. CP 10278. Not only did the County not object to Instruction 12, RP 1_2151, it *proposed* that instruction. CP 7990, 9974. Division II *sua sponte* altered the relevant time period for the County's HWE.

Division II focused on the trees but missed the forest. In doing so, Division II failed to faithfully apply this Court's precedents requiring that an HWE be analyzed as a *unitary* whole. In Glasgow v. Georgia-Pacific Corp., 103 Wn.2d 401, 406-07, 693 P.2d 708 (1985), this Court directed that whether harassment of an employee was sufficient to alter the terms or conditions of that employee's conditions of employment, an element of an HWE claim, must "be determined with regard to the totality of the circumstances." In *Antonius v. King County*, 153 Wn.2d 256, 268, 103 P.3d 729 (2004), the Court held that

considered together make up an unlawful employment practice" even if the individual acts are not actionable. CP 10276.

individual discriminatory acts create a unitary, indivisible whole for purposes of the statute of limitations as to an HWE claim, again analyzing the issue under the totality of the circumstances. *Id.* at 261. Instruction 10, CP 10276, correctly stated the law.

Division II's analysis cannot be squared with this Court's precedent. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

(c) The WLAD and an HWE Claim Must Be Liberally Construed

The WLAD makes clear that employment without gender-based discrimination is a *civil right*, RCW 49.60.010, and it is actionable when a person suffers discrimination by an employer. RCW 49.60.030(2); *Martini v. Boeing Co.*, 137 Wn.2d 357, 367-68, 374-75, 971 P.2d 45 (1999). The WLAD fulfills the Washington Constitution's civil rights provisions; the failure to enforce the right to be free of discrimination "menaces the institutions and foundation of a free democratic state." RCW 49.60.010. WLAD's provisions are "be construed liberally for the accomplishment of [WLAD's purpose of defeating

discrimination]," RCW 49.60.020.

This interpretative imperative required Division II to view with caution any WLAD construction that would *narrow* the coverage of the law. *Marquis v. City of Spokane* 130 Wn.2d 97, 108, 922 P.2d 43 (1996); *Phillips v. City of Seattle*, 111 Wn.2d 903, 908, 766 P.2d 1099 (1989); *Lodis v. Corbis Holdings, Inc.*, 172 Wn. App. 835, 848, 292 P.3d 779 (2013).

Sheila's HWE claim is subject to this key imperative because an HWE claim arose under the common law, as this Court has interpreted RCW 49.60.180(3)'s prohibition on employer discrimination based on sex to encompass the maintenance of an HWE. *Glasgow*, 103 Wn.2d at 404-08; *Robel v. Roundup Corp.*, 148 Wn.2d 35, 44-48, 59 P.3d 611 (2002) (extending HWE to disability).

Division II's analysis of authority on the territorial/temporal scope of a WLAD HWE claim erroneously chose the more *restrictive* scope over the more liberal, requiring review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4).

(2) Sheila Met the Elements of an HWE Claim, as the Jury Concluded

This Court has established the elements of an HWE claim under the WLAD: (1) the harassment was unwelcome, (2) the harassment was because of sex, (3) the harassment affected the terms and conditions of employment, and (4) the harassment is imputable to the employer. *Glasgow*, 103 Wn.2d at 406-07; *Robel*, 148 Wn.2d at 45; *Antonius* 153 Wn.2d at 261-62.⁴ *Nothing* in those elements restricted the territorial/temporal scope of a HWE claim, as Division II has done.

In rendering its decision, Division II started with assumptions about an HWE claim and worked backward to justify its conclusion.

(a) <u>Division II Improperly Restricted the Scope</u> of an HWE Claim Temporally and Territorially

⁴ It is undisputed that Client A's harassment of Sheila was unwelcome, and predicated upon her gender, given Client A's profession of love for Sheila and gifts of lingerie. RP2_715, 1054; Ex. 66 at 10, 12, 16; Ex. 306 at 7. *See* BR at 41-42.

The third Glasgow element is derived from the language of RCW 49.60.180(3) that bars discrimination as compensation "or in other terms or conditions of employment." That element does not focus on where the harassment occurred or its temporal elements, but rather whether the harassment created an HWE so pervasive, analyzed under the totality of the circumstances, as to alter the conditions of the employee's employment. Whether the harassment was "pervasive," is not limited to a specific location for the work. See, e.g., Glasgow, 103 Wn.2d at 406-07; Robel, 148 Wn.2d at 46. Thus, in Loeffelholz v. University of Washington, 175 Wn.2d 264, 276, 285 P.3d 854 (2012), this Court held that although a considerable amount of conduct involving sexual discrimination occurred before RCW 49.60 was amended to address sexual orientation discrimination, the pre-amendment conduct could be assessed in determining if the employer maintained an HWE. Such "unrecoverable conduct [was] admissible as background evidence to give context to any postamendment discriminatory

conduct." *Id.* at 278. That same analysis is pertinent to the pre-King County HWE at TDA and Client A's stalking/harassment away from County public defense office locations.⁵

The totality of the circumstances animates whether the HWE is "pervasive" and a "condition of employment," without regard to territorial/temporal limitations, so long as there is a nexus. Id. at 276 (noting that the acts "must have some relationship" to qualify). See also, Goode v. Tukwila Sch. Dist. No. 406, 194 Wn. App. 1048, 2016 WL 3670590 (2016) (unpublished); Coles v. Kam-Way Transport, 200 Wn. App. 1038, 2017 WL 3980563 (2017) (unpublished). Division II erred in concluding otherwise.

⁵ The totality of the circumstances appropriately included Sheila's employment at TDA, even though the County was not liable for conduct before July 1, 2013 per Instruction 12. CP 10278. She worked under the same conditions, same office dynamic, and same supervisors before and after that date. *See, e.g., Lake v. A.K. Steel Corp.*, 2006 WL 1158610 (W.D. Pa. 2006) at *23 (change in corporate ownership did not bar consideration of predecessor's conduct continued under the same management as part of HWE of successor).

Sua sponte, without regard to Instruction 10 or Instruction 12, Division II essentially pared down the "totality of circumstances" Sheila experienced working for the County to only the time she represented Client A and only while on the physical premises of the County's public defense agency.⁶ It had no basis in law for doing so.

In *LaRose v. King County*, 8 Wn. App. 2d 90, 112-13, 437 P.3d 701 (2019) ("*LaRose I*"), Division II established that a non-employee's stalking of an employee can create an HWE under the WLAD. The County has never denied in this case that a non-employee can contribute to an HWE. The odd feature of Division II's opinion, however, is its failure to acknowledge that in arriving at its conclusion, the *LaRose I* court was obviously aware of the fact that Client A's stalking/harassment of Sheila

⁶ The County acknowledged that "off site" events such as business meetings can constitute "the workplace." Op. 24. Division II also acknowledged that a hostile workplace can include the "equivalent" of a workplace, op. at 25, 27, but gave no context or definition to that statement.

sometimes occurred outside of the confines of the formal workplace.⁷

The *LaRose I* court recounted that Client A's sexually-motivated misconduct toward Sheila in connection with her work – she received phone calls and letters from him there for months, in the parking garage (again at work), and at her home, *id.* at 99-100, and it never confined the HWE claim to harassment that occurred only in the physical County public defense office, given the fact that a public defender's work takes her to local jails, the courthouse, her car's parking garage, her favorite coffee shop, and many other locales outside an office setting. Division II's opinion contradicted its own decision in *LaRose I*.

An HWE alters the conditions of employment, under the

⁷ Division II Commissioner Amanda Bearse denied discretionary review of the order denying the County's summary judgment motion, rejecting the County's argument for an "on-premises/off-premises" analysis, noting that Client A's conduct did not fit neatly into the County's pigeonholes. *See* Appendix. That ruling was animated by the perception that *LaRose I* nowhere confined its analysis to in-office harassment alone.

Glasgow/Antonius totality of the circumstances analysis, where it has a nexus to the work environment. But for her employment as a public defender, Sheila would not have experienced Client A's criminal stalking/harassment that made her employment a living hell no person would want to experience.

Moreover, the stalking/harassment by her client was *not* a condition of Sheila's employment as a public defender. But the implication of Division II's opinion⁸ is that to work as a Washington public defender, a woman must accept as one of the "terms or conditions of employment," RCW 49.60.180(3), that her employer will assign and keep her exposed to clients who may harass her on the job and then stalk her when the representation ends. Division II fails to recognize that its narrow, artificial boundary makes many workplaces more dangerous. The WLAD's remedial purpose would be undermined if

⁸ Unbelievably, the County argued that female public defenders had to accept harassment as an employment condition. BA 29-30.

employees had to accept that employment meant customers, clients, or coworkers would become stalkers once their formal relationship ended.⁹

This Court has made clear that Division II is wrong. In *Antonius*, the plaintiff, a correctional guard, did not have to accept "sexually derogatory comments and name-calling by inmates, co-workers, and supervisors" or "sexually explicit inmate conduct," 153 Wn.2d at 259, as a condition of her employment, and she stated an HWE claim against King County. The client's harassment before and after Sheila's formal representation of him was similarly not a condition of her employment as a public defender.

To support its narrow WLAD construction, Division II considered federal Title VII authority. Op. 24-39. But that

⁹ Division II says that WLAD does not "protect employees from all possible injury remotely related to employment." Op. 39. But the interpretive question here is not about "possible" injury, but harassment on the basis of "sex," which the WLAD covers. RCW 49.60.180(3). Also, the injury here was directly related to the "terms or conditions of employment." *Id*.

authority confirms that there are legitimate *competing* views on the scope of an HWE claim. Sheila provided ample authority that an HWE claim requires only a "nexus between the alleged harassing activity and the workplace." EEOC, *Digest of Equal Employment Opportunity Law* Vol. XXV, No. 3 (Summer 2014), https://www.eeoc.gov/federal-sector/digest/digest-equal-employment-opportunity-law-70.¹⁰ *See generally*, BR 43-48.¹¹

The Ninth Circuit in *Christian v. Umpqua Bank*, 984 F.3d 801 (9th Cir. 2020) stated that a Title VII hostile workplace environment case involved a "constellation of surrounding circumstances, expectations, and relationships," *id.* at 809-10, and was not confined to a particular time or location. A non-

Notwithstanding Division II's dismissive treatment of the point, op. 31-32, this Court in *N.L. v. Bethel Sch. Dist.*, 186 Wn.2d 422, 378 P.3d 162 (2016), applied a school district's duty to a student to an off-campus rape because the relevant inquiry is *the location of the negligence*, not the location of the injury. *Id.* at 435. It is no different as to the location of the conduct creating the HWE.

Those authorities were further supported in the powerful Division II *amici curiae* briefing.

employee harasser sent the plaintiff teller unwanted communications and stalked her at an off-premises bank charitable event. *Id.* at 807. *See also, Fuller v. Idaho Dep't of Corrections*, 865 F.3d 1154 (9th Cir. 2017) (correctional staff raped by fellow staffer away from work site stated HWE claim against agency employer).

Client A's "offsite" conduct had the requisite nexus to Sheila's workplace; nevertheless, Division II chose to override the jury's verdict, and decide, as a matter of law, an issue of fact – it decided that Sheila's parking garage, or customary lunch locale, or her home were not the "equivalent" to a workplace. Op. 34.

Division II barely mentions the WLAD's text and purpose. When it does, the court misapplies the WLAD. Op. 39. *Nothing* in the WLAD's text confines its protections to the physical workplace. Everything Sheila experienced arose from the "terms or conditions of employment." RCW 49.60.180(3). Her representation, Client A's 1,000 phone calls to her work phone,

his stalking in the garage, her coffee shop, and her home, all occurred because of "employment" and her "sex." RCW 49.60.180(3). RCW 49.60.020 instructs courts to interpret those words *liberally*, not rewrite the WLAD to add temporal/geographical limits to its protections that appear nowhere in WLAD's text.

Division II's truncated sense of an HWE limited to the physical confines of an office, or some undefined "equivalent" location, will permit all kinds of *egregious* misconduct that even the County conceded could occur. BA 17 n.6 (rape at an "offsite" business meeting). ¹² The Division II *amici curiae*, including the National Women's Law Center, the Washington Employment Lawyers Association, and 38 other organizations, articulated a wide range of potentially adverse consequences of Division II's

¹² See Little v. Windemere Relocation, Inc., 301 F.3d 958 (9th Cir. 2002) (employee stated an HWE claim against employer for rapes by business client after business dinner at restaurant and subsequent post-rape adverse employment actions; HWE not restricted to physical confines of an office).

acceptance of the County's narrow sense of an HWE. And, these days, when much work is virtual, Division II did not even contemplate the reality of cyberstalking/cyberharassment.

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