FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
8/22/2024 4:04 PM
No. 56455-6-II

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/23/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Case #: 1032480

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SHEILA LAROSE, *Petitioner*,

v.

KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON, *Respondent*,

and

PUBLIC DEFENDER ASSOCIATION D/B/A THE DEFENDER ASSOCIATION (TDA), Defendant below.

ON APPEAL FROM PIERCE COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT Honorable Stanley J. Rumbaugh

RESPONDENT KING COUNTY'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MORGAN, LEWIS, BOCKIUS LLP

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

III. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW IS NOT WARRANTED

A. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION IS NOT IN CONFLICT WITH ANY DECISIONS OF THIS COURT OR THE COURT OF APPEALS.

In analyzing LaRose's hostile work environment claim, the Court of Appeals applied the framework adopted by this Court in *Glasgow v. Georgia Pacific Corp.*, 103 Wn.2d 401, 693 P.2d 708 (1985). Consistent with this Court's precedent, the Court of Appeals considered the facts in the light most favorable to LaRose. *Mancini v. City of Tacoma*, 196 Wn.2d 864, 877, 479 P.3d 656 (2021). Indeed, the facts regarding Smith's behavior and its effect on LaRose in the workplace came almost entirely from LaRose's own trial testimony.

In *Glasgow*, management knew that a male co-worker was sexually harassing female employees in the workplace and took no corrective or disciplinary action for a long period while the

behavior continued. *Glasgow*, 103 Wn.2d at 402-03. The *Glasgow* court held that hostile work environment claims could be brought under the WLAD, and adopted a framework for such claims. The framework provides that a plaintiff establishes a prima facie claim of a hostile work environment when the employee shows that 1) the harassment was unwelcome, 2) the harassment was because of sex, 3) the harassment altered the terms and conditions of employment, and 4) the harassment can be imputed to the employer. *Id.* at 406. Harassment is imputable to the employer as follows:

Where an owner, manager, partner or corporate officer personally participates in the harassment, this element is met by such proof. To hold an employer responsible for the discriminatory work environment created by a plaintiff's supervisor(s) or co-worker(s), the employee must show that the employer (a) authorized, knew, or should have known of the harassment and (b) failed to take reasonably prompt and adequate corrective action. This may be shown by proving (a) that complaints were made to the employer through higher managerial or supervisory personnel or by proving such a pervasiveness of sexual harassment at the work place as to create an inference of the employer's knowledge or constructive knowledge

of it and (b) that the employer's remedial action was not of such nature as to have been reasonably calculated to end the harassment.

Id. In this case, there is no contention that any manager participated in the harassment. Thus, Smith's harassment in the workplace could only be imputed to King County if LaRose showed that King County knew of the harassment and failed to take reasonably prompt and adequate corrective action. *Id.*

LaRose argues the Court of Appeals erred in its application of the *Glasgow* framework to the facts of her case. Even if true, that would not meet the criteria for review by this Court. *See* RAP 13.4(b). Either way, however, the Court of Appeals' analysis is a well-reasoned application of the *Glasgow* framework to the unique facts of this case.

LaRose continues to argue that Smith's behavior, which consisted of both harassing phone calls to the workplace and subsequent stalking behavior outside the workplace, must be viewed and analyzed as a "unitary whole." Doing so, of course, would be improper bootstrapping and would blur the line

between conduct *inside* the workplace that can be imputed to the employer if all other elements are met, and conduct *outside* the workplace (or work-related locations) that cannot be imputed to the employer under *Glasgow*. The Court of Appeals decision faithfully follows this Court's *Glasgow* framework.

LaRose's claim that there are no "territorial" "limitations" to a hostile work environment claim is simply unsupported by the Washington cases she cites. See Loeffelholz v. University of Washington, 175 Wn.2d 264, 285 P.3d 854 (2012) (derogatory comments and abusive behavior in the workplace based on sexual orientation); Coles v. Kam-Way Transport, 2017 WL 3980563 (Wn. App. 2017) (unpublished) (derogatory comments and hostile treatment in the workplace based on sexual orientation); Goode v. Tukwila School District No. 406, 2016 WL 3670590 (Wn. App. 2016) (unpublished) (racially derogatory comments to teacher by superintendent in the workplace).

LaRose can cite no authority from any jurisdiction that would hold an employer liable for a hostile work environment based on harassment by a former client outside the workplace and away from work-events. The cases she cites present facts that are very different from this case. In *Christian v. Umpqua Bank*, 984 F.3d 801, 806-08 (9th Cir. 2020), a bank employee was stalked by a current bank customer in the workplace. One incident occurred at a work-related charity event the employee attended on behalf of the bank. The Ninth Circuit noted that incidences of "workplace behavior" should be "evaluated together." Id. at 809-10 (emphasis added). Christian's hostile work environment claim was squarely based on behavior in the workplace and at a work-related event. In Fuller v. Idaho Dept. of Corrections, 865 F.3d 1154, 1158-59 (9th Cir. 2017), the employee had a relationship with a co-worker who raped her. In response, the employer denied her paid leave, but granted paid leave to the rapist. Id. at 1160. She returned to an "uncomfortable work environment' with supervisors." Id. The

District Court and Ninth Circuit both held that the employer was *not* liable for the rape outside the workplace as a matter of law. Fuller v. Idaho Dep't of Corr., 694 F. App'x 590, 591 (9th Cir. 2017). Instead, the courts permitted a hostile work environment claim to go forward based on *supervisors*' reactions to the rape, which plausibly created a hostile work environment because they essentially condoned the rape and endorsed the rapist. 865 F.3d at 1163. Similarly, in Little v. Windermere, 301 F.3d 958, 964 (9th Cir. 2002), the plaintiff was drugged and raped by a current client at a work dinner to discuss the client's account. Upon reporting the rape to her employer, the plaintiff was counseled not say anything for fear the company would lose the account. *Id.* at 965. The employer then took retaliatory action against her. *Id.* Little's claim was that the employer's response to the rape created a hostile work environment. *Id.* at 966.

By contrast, LaRose has never argued, nor presented evidence, that King County's *response* to Smith's stalking behavior outside the workplace created a hostile work

environment. Instead, LaRose's own testimony demonstrated that supervisors and co-workers at King County were fully supportive of Smith's arrest and prosecution as soon as they learned of the stalking, including assisting LaRose in obtaining a protection order and in Smith's apprehension. RP1_1418-22, 1579, 1565; RP2_1008-09. And the stalking ceased as soon as Smith was arrested. RP1_855; RP2_1031.

In sum, by arguing that King County should have been liable for Smith's stalking at LaRose's home months after the professional relationship ended, LaRose seeks to expand employer liability in a manner that has no support in this Court's precedent or any case law. The Court of Appeals' rejection of LaRose's unsupported argument does not warrant review by this Court.

B. THIS CASE DOES NOT INVOLVE A SUBSTANTIAL ISSUE OF PUBLIC IMPORTANCE THAT SHOULD BE DETERMINED BY THIS COURT.

This case presents a unique fact pattern. The Court of Appeals applied the existing legal framework to that unique fact

pattern. As such, this case does not involve a substantial issue of public importance that should be determined by this Court.

In *LaRose I*, the Court of Appeals followed federal precedent in holding that, "under certain circumstances, an employer may be subject to liability for a hostile work environment claim based on a non-employee's harassment of an employee in the workplace." 8 Wn. App. 2d at 97. That holding is not at issue in this appeal.

LaRose II applied the holding of LaRose I. Neither decision requires employees to accept harassment by third parties in the workplace as a condition of employment, as LaRose claims. However, strict liability is not imposed on an employer that tries but is unable to stop harassment by third parties. The Glasgow framework only requires employers to take reasonably prompt and effective corrective action to stop harassment in the workplace. As the Court of Appeals reasonably concluded, a hostile work environment claim based on third party actions must be based on conduct that occurs in the workplace or a work-

related context. LaRose II, at *18. And even when harassment occurs in the workplace, under *Glasgow* there is no requirement that employers take all possible measures of corrective action. Estevez v. Faculty Club of University of Washington, 129 Wn. App. 774, 796, 120 P.3d 579 (2005). Consistent with federal law, Washington law recognizes that employer liability must be limited to the failure to take reasonable actions within the employer's control. *Id.* (co-worker's "bizarre and frightening" behavior not imputable to employer where employer took reasonably prompt and adequate corrective action by placing him on leave and ordering him to obtain a mental health evaluation); Campbell v. Hawaii Dep't of Educ., 892 F.3d 1005, 1018 (9th Cir. 2018) (explaining "our law does not require an employer to be immediately and perfectly effective in preventing all future harassment by a third party"). When the harassment is caused by a third party over whom the employer has no control, it is possible that an employer's reasonably prompt and corrective action may not be sufficient to end the harassment.

As the Ninth Circuit has explained: "That a corrective action did not actually end the harassment does not necessarily mean that, at the time the employer chose such course of action, it was unreasonable to expect that it would." Id. See also Modern Continental v. Mass. Com'n Against Discrimination, 445 Mass. 96, 833 N.E.2d 1130, 1140 (2005) (explaining that under the negligence standard utilized in hostile work environment claims, "the fact that an employer's efforts do not actually succeed in stopping or preventing the harassment is not determinative"); Akines v. Shelby County, 512 F. Supp. 2d 1138, 1147 (W.D. Tenn 2007) (in regard to third party harassment in a prison setting, "the effectiveness inquiry should look, 'not to whether offensive behavior actually ceased but to whether the remedial and preventative action was reasonably calculated to end the harassment"").4

-

⁴ Notably, LaRose argued in closing that King County was required to "end the harassment," a misstatement of the law that likely affected the verdict due to the substantial instructional errors detailed in the Brief of Appellant. RP1_2208.

In this case, the only harassment by Smith that occurred in the workplace while LaRose was employed by King County was his phone calls. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that for the brief period of 26 days in which LaRose represented Smith while a County employee, her removal from Smith's case, which required court approval, was reasonably prompt and adequate corrective action. LaRose II, at *22-23.5 For the period after representation ended, the Court of Appeals properly concluded that the call screening technology was reasonably adequate to shield LaRose from Smith's harassing calls since she had no obligation to listen to the calls. *Id.* at *21. The evidence was undisputed that call screening was available to LaRose: She testified she had call screening technology that she began to

_

⁵ In addition, the jury found there was no hostile work environment prior to July 1 while LaRose was employed by TDA. The Court of Appeals carefully evaluated the record and concluded that the evidence at trial showed there was no escalation of behavior between July 1 and July 26 that would have altered the terms and conditions of LaRose's employment. *LaRose II*, at *22.

utilize to screen Smith's calls in October of 2013. RP2_1024.⁶ While one receptionist could not recall when the call screening technology was put into place (RP1_95-54), that is beside the point; Lisa Daugaard, the former deputy director of TDA, testified that as of 2013 the "caller announce" technology was universally available to attorneys and allowed them to screen calls. RP1 1657; RP2 1333-34.⁷

The Court of Appeals' opinion is a straightforward application of the *Glasgow* framework to the unique facts of this case. This case does not present a substantial issue of public importance that requires resolution by this Court.

IV. ISSUES RAISED BUT NOT DECIDED BY THE COURT OF APPEALS.

The unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals reversed the judgment entered in the trial court, determined that judgment

⁶ LaRose never testified that call screening was not available to her prior to October.

⁷ Hamaji also described the call screening feature in his testimony. RP1 1164-67.

as a matter of law should have been granted on LaRose's hostile work environment claim, and found that LaRose's negligence claim is now barred by the jury's special verdict. As appellant, King County raised a number of additional trial issues that were not reached by the Court of Appeals. King County does not believe review of the Court of Appeals decision is warranted. But if review is granted, review of these additional issues may be required, pursuant to RAP 13.4(d). Specifically, if this Court were to accept review and reverse the Court of Appeals' decision as to judgment as a matter of law, these additional issues, set forth in the Brief of Appellant, will need to be addressed by either this Court or on remand to the Court of Appeals. The issues raised by King County in the Brief of Appellant but not reached by the Court of Appeals include the following substantial issues:

> Four serious instructional errors worked in tandem to mislead the jury into concluding that King County was liable for all damages caused by all of Smith's acts, including those that had no nexus to the workplace and

which King County had no ability to prevent. Did the trial court commit multiple prejudicial errors in its instructions to the jury on the elements of the hostile work environment claim by:

- a. omitting any requirement that harassment occur
 "in the workplace" or have any nexus to
 workplace (CP 10274-75);
- b. failing to properly define upper management (CP 10277);
- c. failing to instruct the jury to limit damages to those proximately caused by King County (CP 10282); and
- d. failing to instruct the jury to segregate damages caused by Smith (CP 10287, 10289)?
- 2. Did the trial court commit prejudicial error by providing the jury with a verdict form that not only allowed but encouraged duplicative non-economic damages? Setting forth the descriptors of noneconomic

damages contained in a now-repealed statute, RCW 4.56.020, as separately compensable items in the verdict form despite the obvious conceptual overlap was reversible error. CP 10297.

3. Did the trial court commit prejudicial error by excluding King County's only expert on local standards and practices in regard to managing difficult mentally ill clients in public defense offices as "cumulative" to TDA's national expert, where the question of TDA's liability was wholly separate from the question of King County's liability? RP2 1505. The excluded expert's testimony would have gone to the key question of whether King County's remedial action was reasonable. CP 8763. King County should have been entitled to its own standard of care expert where there was no joint liability, and the County's liability was based on different facts.

- 4. Did the trial court commit prejudicial error by repeatedly commenting on the accuracy of LaRose's testimony in violation of article IV, section 16 of the Washington constitution? In just one particularly egregious example of the trial court's pattern of behavior, he told the jury that King County's crossexamination of LaRose about certain key dates was "a waste of time" because those dates, which LaRose had been inconsistent about, had been "established through the testimony already." RP2 1019. Such comments, from which the jury would infer the trial court's own evaluation of the accuracy of LaRose's testimony, a crucial issue at trial, violated the constitution.
- 5. Did the trial court's hostility toward King County's attorney both in front of the jury and outside the jury's presence violate the appearance of fairness doctrine?

 As one example, the trial court's open hostility to King County's counsel was demonstrated during his *sua*

sponte interruption of cross-examination of LaRose in which the court angrily and unfairly chided counsel for wasting the jury's time, to King County's prejudice. RP2 1019, RP1 1437-38, RP2 1211, 1222.

V. CONCLUSION

This case does not meet the standards for review by this Court set forth in RAP 13.4(b). Review should be denied.

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